1992

# Jorgina Chambers and Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Agency Rent-A-Car, Inc., and Royal Indemnity Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction in this court is proper pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3) (j) (1953, as amended).

### ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. When a motor vehicle owner such as Agency meets its financial responsibility through self-funded coverage, is the self-funded liability coverage secondary and excess over the insurance provided (pursuant to express contractual agreement between the rental agency and the renter) by the vehicle operator/renter? The summary judgment, which presents a conclusion of law, is reviewed for correctness, according no deference to the trial court. DeBry v. Salt Lake County, 835 P.2d 981, 984 (Utah 1992) (citing Bonham v. Morgan, 788 P.2d 497, 499 (Utah 1989)).

2. When a motor vehicle owner such as Agency meets its financial responsibility through self-funded coverage, is the self-funded personal injury protection coverage secondary and excess over the insurance provided (pursuant to express contractual agreement between the rental agency and the renter) by the vehicle operator/renter? The summary judgment, which presents a conclusion of law, is reviewed for correctness, according no deference to the trial court. DeBry v. Salt Lake County, 835 P.2d 981, 984 (Utah 1992) (citing Bonham v. Morgan, 788 P.2d 497, 499 (Utah 1989)).

3. If this court determines that Agency's self-funded coverage is primary, is Agency nevertheless permitted to recover the amount it might ultimately pay from Jorgina Chambers, pursuant to her

contract with Agency? DeBry v. Salt Lake County, 835 P.2d 981, 984 (Utah 1992) (citing Bonham v. Morgan, 788 P.2d 497, 499 (Utah 1989)).

4. Regardless of whether Agency's self-funded coverage is primary or secondary, was the trial court correct in its apparent ruling that Agency must provide double the statutorily required minimum limits? DeBry v. Salt Lake County, 835 P.2d 981, 984 (Utah 1992) (citing Bonham v. Morgan, 788 P.2d 497, 499 (Utah 1989)).

#### DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

The following statutes, as they existed in December, 1989, control this case: Utah Code Ann. §§ 31A-22-302, -304, 31A-1-301, 31A-4-102, and 41-12a-407. The language of these statutes is reproduced at Addendum A to this Brief.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

##### Nature of the Case

This is an action for declaratory relief filed by plaintiffs to determine obligations to indemnify Jorgina Chambers, under Utah's financial responsibility laws.

##### Course of Proceedings

This appeal is from a final judgment of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, wherein the court granted summary judgment on plaintiff's claim against this defendant/appellant (Agency Rent-A-Car, Inc.) determining obligations under the financial responsibility laws in the State of Utah.

### Statement of Facts

The following facts were either set forth pursuant to stipulation in Chamber's motion for summary judgment, or set forth without objection in Agency's response to Chamber's motion for summary judgment.

1. Plaintiff Farmers Insurance Exchange is a reciprocal or inter-insurance exchange organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California and authorized to engage in the insurance business in the State of Utah. (R. 21)

2. Defendant Agency Rent-A-Car, Inc. is a Delaware corporation, authorized to conduct the business of renting automobiles in the State of Utah. (R. 22)

3. Defendant Royal Indemnity Company is an insurance company authorized under the laws of the State of Utah to conduct an insurance business in the State of Utah. (R. 22)

4. On or about December 13, 1989, Jorgina Chambers rented a vehicle, a 1989 Dodge Aries, from Agency Rental, Inc. (R. 22)

5. At that time, Jorgina Chambers owned a 1985 Chevrolet Sprint which was insured under a policy issued by Farmers Insurance Exchange with policy limits of \$20,000 for injury to one person, \$40,000 for injuries per occurrence and \$10,000 medical limits. (R. 22)

6. Agency Rental, Inc. at all times relevant hereto is a qualified self-insurer under the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 41-12a-406 (1986) and was certified as such by the Utah Department of Public Safety. (R. 22)



7. On December 14, 1989 a collision occurred at the intersection of 4505 South and 1175 West in Salt Lake County which involved the 1989 Dodge owned by Agency Rental, Inc. and driven by Jorgina Chambers, and a vehicle driven by A.C. Gomez. (R. 23)

8. A.C. Gomez, at all times relevant hereto, was insured under a policy of automobile liability insurance issued by Royal Indemnity Company. (R. 23)

9. Morgan Chambers was a passenger in the vehicle driven by Jorgina Chambers and owned by Agency Rent-A-Car, Inc. (R. 23)

10. Geraldine Gomez was a passenger in the vehicle driven by A.C. Gomez. (R. 23)

11. As a result of the accident, Morgan Chambers sustained catastrophic injuries. Her medical expenses to date exceed \$70,000. (R. 23)

12. Agency accepted responsibility for personal injury protection coverage, but it does not accept that it should be primarily liable. (R. 40)

13. In all of its rental agreements, Agency requires its renters to specifically sign the following agreement:

Customer represents and warrants that he has a valid policy of automobile liability, collision and comprehensive insurance in force at the time of this rental and further represents and warrants that he shall maintain said policy of automobile insurance in force during the term of this rental. Lessor, relying on said warranty and representation, is not providing automobile liability, collision, comprehensive and/or medical expense insurance to the Customer or any person operating, using or otherwise occupying said vehicle.

This language is included in all contracts and Jorgina Chambers signed below identical language in the contract dated December 13, 1989. (R. 40)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. A certificate of self-funded coverage is not the equivalent of insurance. The essence of insurance is an agreement to shift risk. A self-insurer is prohibited from entering into a risk shifting agreement by the State Insurance Code. This conclusion is supported by the decisions of the majority of other jurisdictions that have looked at this issue.

2. If Agency's self-funded coverage is primary, that coverage is still not insurance and Agency is not the insurer of the rental driver. Accordingly, Agency is not deprived of the benefit of the contract knowingly entered into by the rental driver. Pursuant to that contract and to the case law cited from other jurisdictions, Agency is entitled to recover from Jorgina Chambers any amount it might ultimately pay under self-funded coverage.

3. There is no basis in either statutory or case law for a requirement that a motor vehicle operator, operating under a certificate of self-funded coverage, should be liable for double (or even greater) liability limits, compared to other operators.

#### ARGUMENT

##### Introduction

Because the trial court did not explain the basis for its ruling and did not specifically address each of plaintiff's submis-

sions, an explanatory note may be helpful as this Court considers the issues that are on appeal.

First, Agency is appealing from the trial court's decision that Agency must provide primary coverage under the liability obligation set forth in Utah's Financial Responsibility laws. Second, Agency is asking this Court to address the question of whether Agency has the primary obligation to provide Personal Injury Protection benefits to the plaintiff.

Even though Agency has voluntarily reimbursed Royal Insurance for the Personal Injury Protection benefits paid by Royal, Agency submits that the issue of primary versus secondary personal injury protection coverage is before the court, because the court did apparently rule that Agency was primary for all required benefits. Agency recognizes that the personal injury protection statute specifically states that: "Primary coverage is given by the policy insuring the motor vehicle in use during the accident." Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(4). (Emphasis added.) However, Agency submits, as set forth below, that the only insurance policy at issue was that provided by plaintiff, Farmers. Indeed, as is also argued below, Agency could not issue insurance if it wanted to. Therefore, despite the language on which Farmers and the Utah State Insurance Commission have relied, the primary versus secondary coverage issue is the same for both liability coverage and personal injury protection. Agency submits that the issue is squarely before this court and that it would be a waste of judicial resources to not address both issues at this time.

Finally, as an introductory matter, Agency reiterates the position it took in response to this Court's consideration of summary disposition. At that time, the court expressed concern with regard to whether this matter was ripe for appeal because this action was apparently never resolved as to Royal. However, Royal was reimbursed by Agency subsequent to the summary judgment decision. Royal was always aware they would be reimbursed by either Farmers or Agency, and it had no interest beyond that reimbursement. To delay resolution of the significant legal issues presented by this appeal because of the technical deficiency that there is no final judgment against Royal would be both unnecessary and wasteful.

I. THE FARMERS' INSURANCE POLICY PROVIDES PRIMARY COVERAGE TO JORGINA CHAMBERS.

The principal issue on appeal is whether a certificate of self-funded coverage constitutes "other valid and collectible insurance" as that phrase is used in the Farmers' automobile insurance policy issued to Jorgina Chambers. For the reasons set forth in Subpart A of this section, self-funded coverage is not insurance. Insurance requires an agreement to shift risk. Agency is forbidden by the State Insurance Code from entering into such agreements. Therefore, the certificate of self-funded coverage cannot constitute insurance. The majority of other jurisdictions that have considered this issue have also concluded that self-funded coverage is not insurance. These cases are discussed in Subpart B of this section. For these reasons, Agency's certificate of self-funded

coverage could not constitute "other insurance" as that phrase is used in the Farmers' policy.

A. A Certificate of Self-funded Coverage is Not Insurance; Agency is Prohibited by Utah Law from Writing Insurance.

In the proceedings below, the trial court adopted plaintiff's position that a person holding a certificate of self-funded coverage stands in the shoes of an insurer for all intents and purposes. This conclusion was premised on the language of Utah Code Ann. § 41-12a-407 in effect at the relevant time, which stated that a holder of a certificate of self-funded coverage agrees to:

. . . pay benefits to persons injured from the self-funded person's operation, maintenance, and use of motor vehicles as would an insurer issuing a policy to the self-funded person containing the coverages under Section 31A-22-302. U.C.A. § 41-12a-407 (1988)

Based on this language, the court apparently concluded that a certificate holder acts as an insurer, not only for itself, but for all permissive users of the holder's vehicle. Pursuant to this reasoning, the court held that the certificate of self-funded coverage becomes "other collectible insurance" within the meaning of the Farmers' policy and therefore becomes primary.

This conclusion is entirely unsupportable. A certificate of self-funded coverage is not insurance. One need only read the definition of insurance contained in the State Insurance Code in effect at the relevant time to confirm this. Insurance is defined in § 31A-1-301 of the insurance code as "any arrangement, contract, or plan for the transfer of a risk or risks from one or more persons to one or more persons . . . ." Utah Code Ann. § 31A-1-301. Thus, the

essential element of insurance is a risk shifting agreement between two or more parties pursuant to which the insurer agrees to indemnify the insured against loss, even loss caused by the insured's own negligence. For example, when Ms. Chambers purchased her automobile policy from Farmers', she paid a premium to Farmers. In exchange for the premium, Farmers' agreed to assume the risk that she might incur financial liability as the result of her negligent operation of a motor vehicle. The agreement between Ms. Chambers and Farmers', to shift the risk of financial liability from Chambers to Farmers, is an example of insurance.

In contrast, the agreement between Agency and Chambers was not insurance. Agency received no premium from Chambers. Agency made no agreement to indemnify Chambers for loss she might incur as the result of negligent driving. To the contrary, Agency required Chambers to sign an acknowledgement that Chambers had in place a policy of insurance to insure her for any liability that might arise from her operation of Agency's automobile.

Further, and most significantly, Agency could not have insured Chambers had it wanted to. This conclusion is mandated by § 31A-4-102 and §§ 31A-1-301(40) and (44) of the State Insurance Code. Section 31A-4-102 prohibits any person from doing an insurance business in Utah except an insurer authorized to do business under Chapter 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 13 or 14 of the Insurance Code. Utah Code Ann. § 31A-4-102. "Insurance business" includes: . . . (e) providing other persons with insurance as defined in subsection (40). Utah Code Ann. § 31A-1-301. As explained above, insurance is

defined as any agreement between two or more persons to shift risk. Agency Rent-A-Car is not a qualified insurer. Therefore, it is forbidden by law from entering into agreements with any other parties to insure them by shifting the risk of financial liability from that party to Agency. Yet this is exactly what the court below ruled when it held that the agreement between Agency and Chambers constituted "other collectible insurance."

It therefore becomes obvious that the court below misconstrued Utah Code Ann. § 41-12a-407(2) when it ruled that that statute made a certificate of self-funded coverage the equivalent of insurance. Under the correct interpretation of § 41-12a-407(2), a certificate of self-funded coverage is analogous to a bond rather than to a policy of insurance. The holder of a certificate of self-funded coverage agrees to respond and pay damages for any injury resulting from its "operation, maintenance, and use of its motor vehicle." Operation and use of its motor vehicles includes rental of those motor vehicles to third parties such as Ms. Chambers. Agency did not agree with Chambers to indemnify her for her negligence. However, by operation of the statute, Agency is obligated to indemnify third-parties for injuries caused by the rental driver to the same extent an insurer would be. Its liability is, however, derivative and arises by operation of statute rather than pursuant to a risk shifting agreement between Agency and its renter. It is this lack of agreement to shift risk that prevents the relationship from constituting insurance. Thus, like the issuer of a bond, the holder of a certificate of self-funded coverage agrees to stand jointly

liable with the tortfeasor. The reference to insurance in § 41-12a-407(2) simply defines the limits of the obligation to indemnify. And, as in the case of a bond, there is no shifting of risk because, like the issuer of the bond, the holder of a certificate of self-funded coverage retains the right to make a claim against the tortfeasor.

The lack of a risk shifting agreement precludes a certificate of self-funded coverage from qualifying as other collectible insurance under the Farmers' policy. Therefore, because it is the only policy of insurance, the Farmers' insurance policy must be primary.

**B. Other States Hold that Self-funded Coverage is Not Insurance.**

Home Indemnity Co. v. Humble Oil & Refining Co., 314 S.W.2d 861 (Tex. 1958), cited to the trial court by Agency, is the lead case holding that self-funded coverage is not insurance. Humble also stands for the proposition that the self-funded operator has the right to make a claim over against the tortfeasor/ permissive user. In Humble, the defendant, Humble Oil & Refining Co. held a certificate of self-insurance on its vehicles. The plaintiff, Home Indemnity Co. had issued a policy of automobile liability insurance to a Humble employee. The applicable Texas statute required a self-insurer to

Pay on behalf of the insured named therein and any other person, as insured, using any such motor vehicle or motor vehicles with the express or implied permission of such named insured, all sums which the insured shall become legally obligated to pay as damages arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of such motor



vehicle or motor vehicles within the United States of America.

Id. at 864. (Emphasis added.) The employee was involved in an accident while operating a Humble automobile. Home Indemnity Co. brought an action against Humble claiming that Humble was primarily liable. The Home's claim was based on its insurance policy that stated that when the insured was driving any other car than his own personal car, Home Indemnity was liable only for such damages as might be assessed against the insured which were not covered by "other valid and collectible insurance."

The Texas court held that the self-insurer's liability was secondary to that of the driver. The court reasoned that the owner of a motor vehicle under a certificate of self-insurance becomes jointly liable to the injured party along with the negligent driver and, by operation of the self-insurance statute, was obligated to compensate an injured party for negligent acts of the driver. The court held that had the injured party sued Humble, Humble could have brought an action against its employee as the actively negligent party and recovered judgment against him. Id. at 865. The court observed that this was the exact opposite result from what could have occurred had the certificate been the equivalent of insurance in which case, the driver could have brought an action against Humble to recover damages paid by him in satisfaction of a judgment rendered against him as the result of negligence.

In Southeast Title and Insurance Company v. Collins, 226 So.2d 247 (Fla. App. 1969) the Florida Court of Appeals cited Humble in ruling that proof of financial responsibility is not the equiva-

lent of insurance. The court stressed that shifting of risk is an essential incident of insurance. The court reasoned that, because proof of financial responsibility does not shift risk, it cannot be considered insurance. Id. at 248.

The Supreme Court of Louisiana ruled the same way in Hearty v. Harris, 574 So.2d 1234 (La. 1991). The Harris court reasoned that the only form of automobile liability coverage that can qualify as insurance is a policy that has been officially certified and issued by an insurance carrier duly authorized to transact business within the State of Louisiana. Id. at 1240. The court held that a certificate of self-insurance does not meet the certification requirement. Therefore, it cannot be considered insurance. As discussed previously, the same result is mandated under Utah's insurance law.

Finally, the Supreme Court of Missouri also followed Humble in ruling that a certificate of self-insurance is not the equivalent of insurance in American Family Mutual Ins. Co. v. Missouri P&L Co., 517 S.W.2d 110 (Mo. 1974). The American Family court quoted the language from the Humble decision that distinguished insurance from self-insurance on the basis that insurance includes an agreement to indemnify the insured "against loss, even as against his own negligence." Id. at 114 (quoting Humble at 866). See also Universal Underwriters Insurance Co. v. Marriott Homes, Inc., 238 So.2d 730, 732 (Ala. 1970) (Self-insurance "is actually the antithesis of insurance as that term is commonly used.")

The reasoning of Humble and the other cited cases is controlling on the issue of whether self-funded coverage constitutes "other insurance." The obligation to pay any other person all sums which an insurer would have to pay sets forth the limits of the obligation to indemnify. It does not make the certificate of self-funded coverage "insurance". Because the obligation is to indemnify rather than insure, the certificate cannot constitute "other insurance" as that phrase is used in the Farmers' policy. Therefore, the Farmers' insurance policy remains the primary policy.<sup>1</sup>

II. SELF-FUNDED PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION IS  
SECONDARY AND EXCESS OVER THE INSURANCE  
PROVIDED BY THE VEHICLE OPERATOR.

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