1992

Jorgina Chambers and Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Agency Rent-A-Car, Inc., and Royal Indemnity Company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Agency Rent-a-Car, Inc., is required to comply with Utah's Financial Responsibility of Motor Vehicles Owners and Operators Act by either insuring or self-insuring its fleets for liability coverage and personal injury protection coverage. It is required to afford liability coverage to all permissive users of its vehicles. It is further required by Utah law to afford primary coverage when use of its vehicles results in damages.

ARGUMENT

Introduction

As indicated in the Statement of Facts above, on December 14, 1989, a collision occurred involving an automobile owned by Agency Rent-a-Car, Inc., (hereinafter "Agency") and driven by Jorgina Chambers and a vehicle driven by A.C. Gomez. Morgan Chambers, six years old at the time of this accident, was a passenger in the vehicle driven by her mother and owned by Agency. As a result of the accident, Morgan Chambers sustained catastrophic injuries.

At the time of this accident, Jorgina Chambers owned a vehicle insured under a policy of insurance issued by Farmers Insurance Exchange with policy limits of \$20,000.00 for injury to one person, \$40,000.00 per occurrence and \$10,000.00 medical limits. Farmers Insurance Exchange has paid personal injury benefits on behalf of both Morgan Chambers and Jorgina Chambers. Farmers Insurance Exchange is willing to pay its policy limits of \$20,000.00 to settle the claims of Morgan Chambers. Agency however, has refused to participate in any settlement and has denied that it owes any liability coverage at all.

Upon a demand from Farmers Insurance Exchange that it pay personal injury protection benefits to persons injured in this accident, Agency has admitted that it owes personal injury protection benefits and that it is primary for personal injury protection. (R. 13, 24, 39) This issue, therefore, is not before this Court.

This lawsuit seeks to settle the claims of Morgan Chambers and to compensate her for the catastrophic injuries which she sustained in the accident of December 14, 1989 while a passenger in Agency's vehicle. Farmers Insurance Exchange is willing to pay its policy limits to settle the claims of Morgan Chambers against Jorgina Chambers. Agency, however, has denied that it owes any liability coverage for this accident. The issue presented here is whether, Agency, as a self-insured under the provisions and protections of Utah law, is required to afford liability coverage to permissive users, such as Jorgina Chambers. Agency has claimed that it is not required to afford such coverage to Ms. Chambers and has refused to participate in the settlement of Morgan Chambers' claims.

I. AGENCY RENT-A-CAR IS REQUIRED TO COMPLY WITH UTAH LAW BY PROVIDING LIABILITY COVERAGE AND PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION COVERAGE FOR ITS VEHICLES AND BY PROVIDING PRIMARY COVERAGE WHEN USE OF ITS VEHICLES RESULTS IN DAMAGES.

In Utah, "every resident owner of a motor vehicle" is required to comply with the Financial Responsibility of Motor Vehicles Owners and Operators Act by either insuring or self-insuring their fleets for liability coverage. (Utah Code Ann. §41-12a-301 (1). The means of providing proof of this owners' and operators' security are set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 41-12a-401. That section provides that the requirement of proof of owner's or operator's security may be satisfied by any of the following:

- (a) A certificate of insurance under § 41-12a-402 or 41-12a-403;

- (b) A copy of a surety bond under § 41-12a-405;
- (c) A certificate of deposit or security issued by the State Treasurer under § 41-12a-406; or,
- (d) A certificate of self-funded coverage under § 41-12a-407.

Agency, a corporation doing business in the State of Utah, is, therefore, required to comply with the financial responsibility laws of this state by either insuring or self-insuring its fleet for liability coverage. Agency has elected to comply with this act by obtaining a certificate of self-funded coverage under the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 41-12a-407.

In order to obtain its certificate of self-funded coverage, Agency must comply with the requirements set forth in subsection (1) of Utah Code Ann. § 41-12a-407. The version of that subsection in effect at the time of the December 14, 1989 accident read as follows:

The department may, upon the application of any person, issue a certificate of self-funded coverage when it is satisfied that the person has, and will continue to have, the ability to pay judgments in and an amount equal to twice the single limit under subsection 31A-22-304 (2). Persons holding a certificate of self-funded coverage under this subsection shall pay benefits to persons injured from the self-funded persons operation, maintenance, and use of motor vehicles as would an insurer issuing a policy to the self-funded person containing the coverages under §31A-22-302. (Emphasis added)

In 1991, the legislature amended the statute to provide a different scheme for eligibility for self-funded coverage. The

requirement that persons holding certificates of self-funded coverage shall pay benefits to persons injured from the self-funded persons operation, maintenance and use of motor vehicles as would an insurer issuing a policy to the self-funded person containing the coverages under Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-302, however, was maintained.

Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-302 provides as follows:

- (1) Every policy of insurance or combination of policies purchased to satisfy the owner's or operator's security requirement of Section 41-12a-301 shall include:
 - (a) motor vehicle liability coverage under Sections 31A-22-303 and 31A-22-304; and
 - (b) uninsured motorist coverage under Section 31A-22-305, unless affirmatively waived under Subsection 31A-22-305(4).
- (2) Every policy of insurance or combination of policies, purchased to satisfy the owner's or operator's security requirement of Section 41-12a-301, except for motorcycles, trailers, and semitrailers, shall also include personal injury protection under Sections 31A-22-306 through 31A-22-309.
- (3) First party medical coverages may be offered or included in policies issued to motorcycle, trailer, and semitrailer owners or operators. These owners and operators are not covered by personal injury protection coverages in connection with injuries incurred while operating any of these vehicles.

Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-303 sets forth the requirements of motor vehicle liability coverage. Included therein is the requirement that the policy, if an owner's policy, designate all motor vehicles on which coverage is granted, insure the person

named in the policy, and "insure any other person using any named vehicle with the express or implied permission of the named insured". (Emphasis added.)

Under the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 41-12a-407, self-insureds, such as Agency, are required to provide the same coverages as an insurer issuing a policy would. This includes affording liability coverage for damages inflicted by themselves and by permissive users of their vehicles and affording personal injury protection benefits as set forth in § 31A-22-306 through 31A-22-309.

The obligation of self-insureds to afford liability coverage for permissive users of their vehicles is well established in Utah. In the case of Foster v Salt Lake County, 712 P.2d 234 (Utah 1985), the Supreme Court examined the predecessor statutes to the Financial Responsibility of Motor Vehicles Owners and Operators Act and concluded that self-insureds were required to afford permissive users of motor vehicles liability coverage at minimum limits. The Court noted the requirement in the Safety Responsibility Act (Utah Code Ann. § 41-12-21) that every owner's policy of liability insurance shall insure the "person named therein and any other person, as insured, using any such motor vehicle or motor vehicles with the express or implied permission of such named insured..." Id. Page 227 At that time, the Utah Automobile No-fault Insurance Act (Utah Code Ann. §31-41-1 et. seq.) required all owners of motor vehicles to maintain security in effect continuously throughout

the registration of the motor vehicle. Owners were given the option of providing security by insurance or "affording security equivalent to that offered by a policy of insurance". Self-insureds or those that opted to afford security equivalent to that offered by a policy of insurance were required to afford liability coverage to permissive users of their vehicles.

Judge J. Thomas Greene of the Federal District Court for the District of Utah reached the same conclusion in the case of Lane v. Honeywell, Inc. 663 F.Supp. 370 (D. Utah 1987). Judge Greene also examined the previous Utah law and concluded that "public policy as expressed in Utah law is that self-insurers must provide security for damages inflicted by themselves and by permissive users of their vehicles". Id. Page 375

In addition to the requirement that self-insureds, such as Agency, afford liability coverage to permissive users of their vehicles, is the requirement that Agency afford personal injury protection as set forth in § 31A-22-306 through 31A-22-309. Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-306 provides the following:

Personal injury protection under Subsection 31A-22-302(2) provides the coverages and benefits described under Section 31A-22-307 to persons described under Section 31A-22-308, but is subject to the limitations, exclusions, and conditions set forth in 31A-22-309. (Emphasis added)

Agency is required to afford personal injury protection coverage and in providing that required coverage, is subject to the conditions set forth in § 31A-22-309. Subsection (4) 31A-22-309 provides that:

When a person injured is also an insured party under any other policy, including those policies complying with this part, primary coverage is given by the policy insuring the motor vehicle use during the accident.

Agency, required under the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 41-12a-407 to pay benefits to persons injured from the use of its motor vehicles "as would an insurer issuing a policy to the self-funded person", is mandated by statute to afford liability coverage and personal injury protection coverage. It is also required by statute to afford primary coverage on the vehicles which it has elected to self-insure. Agency has conceded that it owes primary coverage for personal injury protection benefits. The language of Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(4), however, does not limit its application to personal injury protection benefits or even to policies which affords such benefits. The statute states that primary coverage is given by the policy insuring the motor vehicle in use during the accident, and not merely that primary coverage for personal injury protection is given by the policy insuring the vehicle in use during the accident.

This statutory mandate of Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(4) that Agency afford primary liability and personal injury protection coverage for its vehicles is a restatement of a well established principle in Utah case law. The Utah Supreme Court has held on numerous occasions "that the insurance coverage on the car being driven is primary and that of the driver is excess". Schippers v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance, 30 Utah 2d 404, 518 P.2d 1099 (1974); Lyon v. Hartford Accident and

Indemnity Company, 25 Utah 2d. 311, 480 P.2d 730 (1971); Christensen v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 21 Utah 2d 194 443 P.2d 385 (1968); Russell v. Paulson 18 Utah 2d 157, 417 P.2d 658 (1966).

Agency has cited decisions from foreign jurisdictions which distinguish between self insurance and insurance. None of these cases, however, address the statutory scheme for owners of vehicles in Utah.

Agency cites the case of Hearty v. Harris, 574 So. 2d 123 (La 1991), as one which concludes coverages such as uninsured motorist coverage and omnibus clauses that are required in insurance policies are not required of self-insurers. The Louisiana Court, however, states that such coverage is not required of self-insureds in Louisiana because the legislature has not mandated that self-insureds provide such coverage. In Utah, however, self-insured owners of vehicles are mandated by statute to provide liability coverage for permissive users, personal injury protection coverage and primary coverage for their vehicles involved in accidents. As stated by Agency on page 10 of its Brief, Agency's liability in Utah "arises by operation of statute rather than pursuant to a risk shifting agreement between Agency and its renter".

Similar issues were addressed by the South Carolina Supreme Court in the case of Southern Homes Insurance v. Burdettes Leasing Service, Inc., 234 S.E. 2d 870 (1977). In that case, the insurance company insuring a driver of a rental vehicle

sought indemnification from the rental company for damages paid out by the insurance company as a result of an accident in which the insured was driving a rental vehicle. The Court examined the overall purpose of the motor vehicle financial responsibility law and noted that "public liability insurance not only affords protection to the insured motorist, it serves the public purpose of affording protection to innocent victims of motor vehicle accidents". Id. page 872. Although the Court noted that technically, a self-insurer is not an insurer at all, the Court concluded that "we think it was the intention of the legislature that a self-insured provide the same protection to the public that a statutory liability policy provides. A self-insurer substitutes for an insurance policy to the extent of the statutory policy requirements". The Court held that the auto leasing company did self-insure the operation of its motor vehicles by persons using them with consent and that this protection was primary. "To hold otherwise would negate the intent of the legislature". Id. Page 872

In Southern Home Insurance Company, *Supra.*, the rental company argued that their rental agreement provided that the renters' own insurance would be responsible. The Court rejected this effort on the part of the leasing company to relieve itself of liability imposed by law at least insofar as an injured third party's claim was concerned, by stating "the statute and not the parties determines the rights of injured parties and any contract inconsistent therewith is not binding". Id. page 873.

Efforts by Agency to relieve itself of responsibility and participating in settlement of the claims of Morgan Chambers are contrary to Utah law and similarly, void.

Agency, here, argues that self-funded coverage is not insurance and that "the holder of a certificate of self-funded coverage agrees to respond and pay damages for any injury resulting from its 'operation, maintenance, and use of its motor vehicle.' Operation and use of its motor vehicles includes rental of those motor vehicles to third parties such as Ms. Chambers."¹ Agency goes on to say that it "did not agree with Chambers to indemnify her for her negligence. However, by operation of the statute, Agency is obligated to indemnify third parties for injuries caused by the rental driver to the same extent an insurer would be."²

Agency makes a distinction between the obligation to indemnify Ms. Chambers for her negligence and its obligation to indemnify third parties for injuries caused by Chambers to the same extent an insurer would be. This is a distinction without a difference since Agency has refused to participate in the settlement of the claims of Morgan Chambers.

According to Agency, this appeal raises the issue of whether, in the event "this Court determines that Agency's self-funded coverage is primary, is Agency nevertheless permitted to recover the amount it might ultimately pay from Jorgina Chambers,

¹ Appellant's Brief page 10.

² Appellant's Brief page 10.

pursuant to her contract with Agency." Agency's contract with Chambers is not before the Court nor does Agency offer any support for its claim that in the event this Court determines that Agency self-funded coverage is primary, Agency may recover whatever amount it is required to pay from Jorgina Chambers. Such a finding on the part of this Court, however, would circumvent the determination that Agency's self-funded coverage is primary and render it meaningless.

The trial court in this case correctly concluded that Agency, electing to comply with the Financial Responsibility of Motor Vehicles owners and operators act by obtaining a certificate of self-funded coverage, was required by Utah's law to afford liability coverage and personal injury protection coverage for its vehicles and that that coverage is primary. Agency, therefore, is required to participate in settling the claims of Morgan Chambers against Jorgina Chambers.

II. AGENCY RENT-A-CAR HAS CONCEDED THAT UNDER UTAH LAW IT OWES PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION BENEFITS AND THAT IT IS PRIMARILY RESPONSIBLE FOR THOSE BENEFITS.

Agency seeks to have this Court address the issue of whether or not the self-funded personal injury protection coverage is primary even though it has already conceded that under Utah law, it is required to afford such benefits and that it is primary for those benefits. In its Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment, (R.39, 40), Agency states that "plaintiff's statement at paragraph 16

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